Page 1 of 14

RECEIVED 07-05-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP1654

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

REBECCA SUE FERRARO,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRIAN P. MULLINS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1026891

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 mullinsb@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

STATEMENT OF FACTS		
ARGUMENT		
with	court of appeals' decision is in conflict the court of appeals' controlling ion in <i>State v. Smet.</i>	
A.	A sentencing factor that was unknown to the parties at sentencing and adjusts the recommended sentence under the OWI Sentencing Guidelines is highly relevant to the defendant's sentence	
В.	The OWI Sentencing Guidelines were highly relevant to Ms. Ferraro's sentence	
CONCLUS	SION	
CERTIFICATION AS TO FORM/LENGTH 14		
	EATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH E 809.19(12)	

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 3 of 14

ISSUE PRESENTED

Rebecca Ferraro pled no contest to her third offense of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated and was sentenced to eight months and ten days of incarceration. At sentencing, the circuit court relied on the OWI Sentencing Guidelines and noted that Ms. Ferraro's preliminary breathalyzer test showed her blood alcohol content was .213. The OWI Sentencing Guidelines recommend a sentence between seven months and one year of incarceration for an offender convicted of a third offense with a blood alcohol content between .20 and .249.

Four days after the sentencing hearing, the Wisconsin Department of Justice's crime laboratory disclosed Ms. Ferraro's blood test, which showed her blood alcohol content was .167. The Sentencing Guidelines recommend a sentence between sixty days to six months of incarceration for an offender convicted of a third offense with a blood alcohol content between .02 to .169.

Is a fact that was unknown to the parties at sentencing and adjusts the recommended sentence under the OWI Sentencing Guidelines a new factor?

The court of appeals answered no.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This Court should grant review pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d) because the court of appeals' decision is in conflict with the court of appeals' controlling opinion in *State v. Smet*, 186 Wis. 2d 24, 519 N.W.2d 697 (Ct. App. 1994), which held that any fact affecting the Sentencing Guidelines' suggested sentencing range is a new factor if the guidelines were "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Criminal Complaint

A criminal complaint filed in the Waukesha County Circuit Court on January 30, 2020, charged Ms. Ferraro with operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant--fourth offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a), 939.50(3)(h), and 343.301(1g); and felony bail jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 946.49(1)(b) and 939.50(3)(h). (R. 3:1-2).

The complaint alleged that, on January 28, 2020, a Delafield police officer was dispatched to the La Quinta Hotel after an employee from a nearby restaurant reported that a diner left without paying her bill, drove away in a Jeep Cherokee, and was staying at LaQuinta. (R. 3:2). The officer encountered

¹ Ms. Ferraro was released on bond in 2019 from a Rock County Circuit Court case charging her with operating a vehicle while intoxicated with a minor passenger. A condition of her bond prohibited her from committing any crime, which was in effect on January 28, 2020. (R. 3:3).

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 5 of 14

Ms. Ferraro in the driver's seat of a Jeep Cherokee at the LaQuinta Hotel's parking lot. (R. 3:2). The officer reported that Ms. Ferraro slurred her speech and her breath smelled of alcohol. (R. 3:2). Ms. Ferraro confirmed she had been drinking and was ordered to perform field sobriety tests, which suggested she was impaired. A preliminary breathalyzer test measured her blood alcohol level as .213. (R. 3:2-3).

Ms. Ferraro was arrested for operating under the influence of an intoxicant. (R. 3:3). When she did not consent to a blood draw, the officer obtained a search warrant to withdraw blood. Ms. Ferraro's blood was sent to the Wisconsin Department of Justice's crime laboratory for analysis. (R. 3:3).

B. Guilty Plea and Sentencing

Plea and sentencing hearings were held on February 20, 2020, before the Honorable Maria S. Lazar. Pursuant to a plea agreement, Ms. Ferraro pled no contest to an amended information charging her with operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant--third offense,² contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a), 346.65(2)(am)3, and 343.301(1g). (R. 63:2). The State dismissed and read in the bail jumping charge. (R. 63:3). At the time of the plea and sentencing, the result of Ms. Ferraro's blood test had not been received from the crime lab.

² The State determined that Ms. Ferraro had two, not three, prior convictions for operating a vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant. (R. 3:3).

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 6 of 14

During the plea colloquy, the circuit court affirmed that the "blood alcohol count in this case is .213," which Ms. Ferraro said she understood. (R. 63:5). Ms. Ferraro did not object to the circuit court relying on the factual allegations contained in the amended information³ as a factual basis for her plea, and the circuit court accepted Ms. Ferraro's no contest plea. (R. 63:11).

The case proceeded to sentencing. The State noted the mitigating factors that Ms. Ferraro drove only .3 miles while under the influence, cooperated with police, and did not drive recklessly. (R. 63:13). The State argued an aggravating factor was "the defendant's PBT [preliminary breathalyzer test] . . . is a .213. That makes this more aggravated than most third offense OWI's." (R. 63:13). The State also argued an aggravating factor was that Ms. Ferraro was released on bond for a pending OWI in Rock County when she was arrested for the instant offense. (R. 63:14).

Defense counsel asked the circuit court to impose probation for two years. (R. 63:16). Counsel noted that Ms. Ferraro "does admit that it's likely that, you know, had we gotten all the evidence in this case and what the blood alcohol actually was through the testing, that it's likely that she could have been found guilty, so that's why she's here taking responsibility for that." (R. 63:15-16). Defense counsel

³ The amended information charged Ms. Ferraro with driving under the influence of alcohol as a third offense. The amended information did not refer to Ms. Ferraro's blood alcohol content. (R. 23:1-2).

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 7 of 14

acknowledged that Ms. Ferraro has "an alcohol problem," which she was addressing through treatment. (R. 63:16-17).

The circuit court explained its sentence by remarking that it considered the parties' statements, "looked to the Third Judicial District OWI/PAC Sentencing Guidelines for information and standards as amended in 2018 and first looks at mitigating and aggravating factors." (R. 63:22). The circuit court determined "that there's one big mitigating factor and there's one big aggravating factor, aside from the BAC of .213." (R. 63:22).

The circuit court considered as an aggravating factor that Ms. Ferraro committed the offense while released on bond for another OWI offense. (R. 63:22). The mitigating factors were that Ms. Ferraro only drove .3 miles, cooperated with police, and did not exhibit any bad driving. (R. 63:22).

The circuit court sentenced Ms. Ferraro to 250 days in jail with work-release privileges. (R. 63:24). The Third Judicial District's OWI Sentencing Guidelines for a third offense where the offender's blood alcohol content was between .20 and .249 and aggravating factors were present suggest a sentence between seven months and one year of incarceration. WIS. THIRD JUDICIAL DIST. OWI/PAC SENTENCING GUIDELINES, Third Offense (THIRD JUDICIAL DIST. OW/PAC SENTENCING GUIDELINES COMM. 2018), available at http://www.wisbar.org.>Directories>CourtRules.

C. Postconviction Motion

On February 24, 2020, the Delafield Police Department received Ms. Ferraro's blood test results from the Wisconsin Department of Justice's crime lab. The test showed Ms. Ferraro's blood alcohol level was .167. (R. 97:1).

Ms. Ferraro filed a postconviction motion for sentence modification. (R. 96:1-9). She argued that the blood test result was a new factor that justified modifying her sentence. Ms. Ferraro noted the blood test was new because it was disclosed after she was sentenced. (R. 96:6). She argued the test was highly relevant to her sentence because the OWI Sentencing Guidelines are based on a defendant's blood alcohol level, and the circuit court relied on the guidelines when it imposed Ms. Ferraro's sentence. (R. 96:6).

On September 3, 2021, the postconviction court, the Honorable J. Arthur Melvin, III, presiding,⁴ denied Ms. Ferraro's motion for sentence modification. (R. 108:1-2).

The postconviction court found that: 1) Ms. Ferraro accepted a plea offer from the State knowing the blood test was still outstanding; 2) she was motivated to resolve her Waukesha case so she could participate in a treatment program in Rock County, where she had a pending OWI case; and 3) all parties

⁴ The case was transferred from Judge Lazar to Judge Melvin when the Waukesha County Circuit Court rotated judicial assignments.

knew the blood test was outstanding when the case proceeded to sentencing. (R. 108:1).

Based on those factual findings, the postconviction court determined that the blood test was not "new" evidence because "the knowledge that the defendant was intoxicated at the time of the offense is only confirmed with the test." (R. 108:2).

The postconviction court further concluded that, if it considered the blood test new evidence, it did not justify modifying Ms. Ferraro's sentence because the parties "knew the PBT was not as accurate as the outstanding blood test, yet, both agreed to conclude the case with the information at hand." (R. 108:2).

D. Court of Appeals

Ms. Ferraro asked the court of appeals to reverse the circuit court's order denying her postconviction motion and to remand to the circuit court for further proceedings.

On June 8, 2022, the court of appeals affirmed the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief in an unpublished opinion. *State v. Ferraro*, No. 2021AP1654-CR, slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. June 8, 2022). The court of appeals determined that the blood test was not highly relevant to Ms. Ferraro's sentence because the circuit court knew: 1) that Ms. Ferraro drove while intoxicated; 2) her PBT was .213; 3) she admitted she drank and drove; 4) she failed field

 $^{^{5}}$ The appeal was decided by one judge pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2)(f).

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 10 of 14

sobriety tests; and 5) she violated the bond conditions set in her pending Rock County OWI case. Slip op. at p. 8. The court of appeals observed that, although the blood test showed a lower alcohol concentration, "it was still more than two times the legal limit." *Id.* The court of appeals concluded that the circuit court's sentence was motivated by Ms. Ferraro violating the condition of her Rock County bond and her prior convictions for OWI. *Id.* at p. 9.

The court of appeals also held that, if the blood test was a new factor, the postconviction court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it concluded that sentence modification was not warranted. The court of appeals explained that Ms. Ferraro sought to resolve the case quickly even though she knew the blood test was outstanding. *Id*.

ARGUMENT

- I. The court of appeals' decision is in conflict with the court of appeals' controlling opinion in *State v. Smet*.
 - A. A sentencing factor that was unknown to the parties at sentencing and adjusts the recommended sentence under the OWI Sentencing Guidelines is highly relevant to the defendant's sentence.

A circuit court has the inherent power to modify a defendant's sentence based on a "new factor." Id., ¶ 35. The defendant bears the burden to demonstrate a new factor by clear and convincing evidence. Id., ¶ 36.

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 11 of 14

A "new factor" is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of the sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of the original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Id., ¶ 40 (citing $Rosado\ v.\ State$, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)).

A fact that adjusts the Sentencing Guidelines' suggested sentencing range is a new factor if the guidelines were "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." *State v. Smet*, 186 Wis. 2d 24, 34, 519 N.W.2d 697 (Ct. App. 1994).

B. The OWI Sentencing Guidelines were highly relevant to Ms. Ferraro's sentence.

The Third District's OWI Sentencing Guidelines use blood alcohol content to assess the severity of the offense. The guidelines for a third offense provide four categories of OWI offenses and suggest greater penalties depending on whether the defendant's blood alcohol content was .02 to .169, .17 to .199, .20 to .249, or .25 and above. The Guidelines then provide a recommended sentencing range depending on whether mitigating or aggravating factors were present.

The Guidelines' recommended jail sentence for a third offense with aggravating factors when the defendant's blood alcohol content is between .20 and .249 is seven to twelve months. The recommended jail sentence for a third offense with mitigating factors when the defendant's blood alcohol content is .20 to .249 is three to seven months.

Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 12 of 14

The Guidelines recommended jail sentence for a third offense with aggravating factors when the defendant's blood alcohol content is between .02 and .169 is sixty days to six months. The recommended jail sentence for a third offense with mitigating factors when the defendant's blood alcohol content is between .02 and .169 is forty-five days to five months.

In determining Ms. Ferraro's sentence, the circuit court "looked to the Third Judicial District OWI/PAC Sentencing Guidelines for information and standards as amended in 2018 and first looks at mitigating and aggravating factors." (R. 63:22). The circuit court's reliance on the Guidelines was borne out by Ms. Ferraro's sentence.

The circuit court considered as an aggravating factor that Ms. Ferraro committed the offense while released on bond for another OWI offense. (R. 63:22). The mitigating factors were that Ms. Ferraro only drove .3 miles, cooperated with police, and did not exhibit any bad driving. (R. 63:22). Ms. Ferraro's sentence was eight months and ten days, which was Guidelines' consistent with the recommended sentence for a third offense with a mix of aggravating and mitigating factors when the defendant's blood alcohol content was between .20 and .249 and establishes that the Guidelines were highly relevant to the circuit court's imposition of sentence.

The court of appeals concluded that the blood test was not highly relevant to Ms. Ferraro's sentence because, although it showed a lower alcohol concentration, "it was still more than two times the Case 2021AP001654 Petition for Review Filed 07-05-2022 Page 13 of 14

legal limit." Slip op. at p. 9. The court of appeals did not recognize that the lower alcohol concentration adjusted the Guidelines' recommended sentencing range. Because the Guidelines were highly relevant to Ms. Ferraro's sentence and the revised blood alcohol concentration adjusted the recommended sentencing range under the Guidelines, the court of appeals' decision is in conflict with the court of appeals controlling opinion in *Smet*.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Ferraro asks this Court to grant her petition for review.