Case 2021AP001654

FILED 07-14-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP1654-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff -Respondent,

v.

REBECCA SUE FERRARO,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7081 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kellisjw@doj.state.wi.us

Case 2021AP001654

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Rebecca Sue Ferraro seeks review of the court of appeals' decision that affirmed her judgment of conviction for third-offense operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated ("OWI") and the order denying postconviction relief. State v. Ferraro, No. 2021AP1654-CR, 2022 WL 2062727 (Wis. Ct. App. June 8, 2022) (unpublished). (Pet-App. 3–12.) She insists review is warranted to cure a conflict between the court of appeals' decision and State v. Smet, 186 Wis. 2d 24, 519 N.W.2d 697 (Ct. App. 1994). (Ferraro's Pet. 4.)

This Court should decline review for four reasons. First, there is no conflict to resolve as the court of appeals employed the correct standard of review and legal principles when it held that Ferraro failed to establish the existence of a new sentencing factor. Second, even if this Court concludes Ferraro had established a new sentencing factor, that decision would ultimately prove irrelevant as Ferraro still failed to show that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it declined to modify her sentence. Third, the underlying court of appeals' decision is unpublished, and there already exists a well-established body of caselaw governing sentence modification requests. Fourth, as a practical matter, Ferraro should receive no relief from her alleged, invited error.

BACKGROUND

As the court of appeals recounted, police arrested Ferraro for fourth-offense OWI after she was found behind the wheel of a parked vehicle after failing to pay for her meal at a nearby restaurant. (Pet-App. 4.) She failed the ensuing field sobriety tests and submitted to a preliminary breath test yielding a result of .213. (Pet-App. 4.) At the time, she was also on bond for a separate OWI offense. (Pet-App. 5.) She was subsequently charged with fourth-offense OWI and felony bail jumping. (Pet-App. 5.)

Following her arraignment, Ferraro, through counsel, requested that her case be scheduled for a plea and sentencing that same week, less than one month after her arrest. (Pet-App. 4–5.) Ferraro ultimately agreed to plead no contest to an amended charge of third-offense OWI with the remaining bail jumping charge to be dismissed and read-in for sentencing. (Pet-App. 6.) When asked if there was any reason the court should not proceed to sentencing that same day, Ferraro answered, "No, your Honor." (Pet-App. 6.) By that time, Ferraro's post-arrest blood test results were not yet reported. (Pet-App. 8 n.5.)

Following the parties' sentencing arguments and Ferraro's allocation, the circuit court explained that it had "looked to the Third Judicial District OWI/PAC Sentencing Guidelines for information and standards as amended in 2018 and first looks at mitigating and aggravating factors." (Pet-App. 8.) The court identified as "one big mitigating factor" the fact that Ferraro had driven only a short distance before her arrest. (Pet-App. 8.) The court also described "one big aggravating factor, aside from the BAC of .213," was that Ferraro was out on bond for another pending OWI charge and was not supposed to be driving or drinking, let alone "drinking and driving." (Pet-App. 8.) The court ultimately imposed a sentence encompassing a base fine of \$1800, a 250-day jail confinement, a 36-month driver's license revocation, and a 36-month ignition interlock device requirement. (Pet-App. 8–9.)

Four days later, Ferraro's blood test results were reported, revealing that her blood alcohol concentration ("BAC") at the time of the blood draw was .167. (Pet-App. 9.) Ferraro moved to modify her sentence, arguing that the lower BAC result constituted a new factor warranting sentence modification. (Pet-App. 9.) The circuit court denied Ferraro's request, holding that (1) the test result was not a new factor, and (2) even if it was a new factor, the result did not warrant sentence modification. (Pet-App. 9.)

The court of appeals affirmed. (Pet-App. 4–12.) After recounting the factual history of Ferraro's case, the court identified the established two-step inquiry governing sentence modification requests based upon a new factor. (Pet-App. 9.) The court recognized a "new factor" as

a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties.

(Pet-App. 9 (quoting Rosado v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)).) The court also recognized that the existence of a new factor does not automatically entitle a defendant to sentence modification, and the decision to modify a sentence based on a new factor is left to the circuit court's discretion. (Pet-App. 10 (citing State v. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 37, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828).)

Applying those standards, the court of appeals decided that Ferraro's blood test results did not meet the definition of a new factor. (Pet-App. 10.) This, the court explained, was because the circuit court knew at the time of sentencing that Ferraro had been driving while intoxicated, had failed field sobriety tests, had admitted to drinking and driving, had submitted to a preliminary breath test of .213, and had violated the conditions of her pending OWI case. (Pet-App. 10.) The court observed that Ferraro's blood test result only confirmed what the circuit court already knew: that Ferraro was highly intoxicated when she drove. (Pet-App. 10–11.) Additionally, the court noted that the circuit court's primary sentencing focus was on Ferraro's commission of the crime while on bond for a pending OWI, which ordered her not to drive at all. (Pet-App. 11.)

Moreover, the court of appeals determined that even if Ferraro's BAC result constituted a new factor, the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in declining to modify her sentence. (Pet-App. 11.) Fueling that decision, the court noted that Ferraro's blood test result was still twice the legal limit, her sentence fell within the statutorily permitted penalties, and that Ferraro was responsible for pushing to resolve her case so quickly, before her blood test results were reported. (Pet-App. 11.)

Ferraro petitioned for review.

DISCUSSION

This Court should decline further review.

There are four reasons why this Court should deny Ferraro's petition for review.

First and foremost, Ferraro's petition does not meet this Court's criteria for review. This Court grants petitions for review "only when special and important reasons are presented." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). Here, Ferraro contends that review of her case is warranted only under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d) to correct a conflict between the court of appeals' decision and *Smet*, (Ferraro's Pet. 4), but her entire argument rests on a fundamental misinterpretation of *Smet*.

To be clear, *Smet* does not provide that a defendant is automatically entitled to sentence modification whenever a fact discovered sometime after sentencing would alter where the defendant falls on sentencing guidelines that were considered by the court when crafting the defendant's original sentence. If that were true, this Court would have decided *Smet* quite differently since the sentencing court in that case explicitly considered applicable guidelines before imposing the sentence, the defendant later discovered that a scoring error had impacted his guideline placement, and yet this Court still concluded that this scoring error was not a new factor because "it is readily apparent that the court here

placed little weight upon the guidelines." Smet, 186 Wis. 2d at 34.

The court of appeals' decision in Ferraro's case is in full accord with *Smet*. Like in *Smet*, the court of appeals plainly recognized that the circuit court's sentencing decision for Ferraro was primarily driven by facts unrelated to reviewed guidelines, focusing largely on the fact that she committed the crime while on bond for yet another pending OWI offense, during a time she was ordered not to drive at all. (Pet-App. 11.) The court observed that it was "Ferraro's decision to drink and drive in violation of the Rock County bond order, together with the fact that Ferraro repeatedly violated OWI law, motivated the sentence imposed." (Pet-App. 11.)

Seeking to challenge that conclusion, Ferraro clings to her position that the sentencing guidelines were nevertheless highly relevant to her sentence given the ultimate sentence she received. (Ferraro's Pet. 12–13.) The record belies her argument. To illustrate, Ferraro was assessed a \$1800 fine—the amount the applicable guidelines recommend where mitigating factors are present and the defendant's blood alcohol concentration falls between .20 and .249. (R. 63:23; Pet-App. 14.)

If Ferraro's position were correct, and those guidelines were highly relevant to her sentence, one would expect the circuit court to impose periods of jail confinement, driver's license revocation, and ignition interlock device requirement consistent with that same guideline, but that was not the case. Rather, the court ordered Ferraro to serve 250 days' jail—just over eight months—which falls in the respective guidelines where mitigating factors are present and the defendant's blood alcohol concentration exceeds .25 or where aggravating factors are present and the defendant's blood alcohol concentration falls between .20 and .249. (R. 63:24; Pet-App. 14.) And the court also ordered Ferraro's driving privileges revoked and required her to maintain an ignition

interlock device each for 36 months, which the guidelines recommended only where aggravated factors were present and the defendant's blood alcohol concentration exceeded .25 or the defendant was found to be "drugged driving," neither of which applied to Ferraro even when considering her elevated preliminary breath test result. (R. 63:23; Pet-App. 14.)

Considered together, while the circuit court may have considered the relevant sentencing guidelines before crafting Ferraro's sentence, its selection of penalties that fell within no particular guideline reveals that those guidelines were not highly relevant to the ultimate sentence imposed. Thus, Ferraro's actual BAC result, which at best would have only revealed that she fell in a different guideline recommendation column, was not a new factor. See Rosado, 70 Wis. 2d at 288.

Interrelated, the second reason this Court should decline review is that Ferraro's argument fails to account for the remainder of the court of appeals' decision, which would otherwise preclude the relief she seeks. Notably, the court of appeals did not stop after concluding that Ferraro had not established a new sentencing factor; it instead concluded that "[e]ven if the lower BAC qualified as a new factor, the postconviction court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it concluded the lower result did not justify sentence modification." (Pet-App. 11.)

Ferraro wholly ignores this portion of the court of appeals' decision. She does not suggest, assuming her blood test result constituted a new factor, that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in declining to modify her sentence or that the court of appeals' analysis on that point was flawed. She merely provides her best argument for why her BAC result was a new factor while failing to explain how she would be entitled to sentence modification, even if that were true. (See Ferraro's Pet. 12–13.)

The State submits that there is no reason for this Court to grant review to weigh in on a fact-specific issue that will ultimately have no bearing on the relief Ferraro seeks; even if this Court were to conclude that her blood test results constituted a new factor, Ferraro still would not be entitled to sentence modification because the circuit court soundly exercised its discretion when it determined that her specific blood alcohol concentration did not warrant sentence modification. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 37.

Third, to the extent that this Court perceives some error by the lower courts, the underlying unpublished decision is not binding on any courts of the state. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(a). Smet, Rosado, and Harbor remain good law, and in cases where a circuit court's comments reveal that a defendant's precise blood alcohol concentration or applicable sentencing guidelines were highly relevant to his or her sentence, a defendant may very well convince a circuit court that sentence modification is appropriate. But that's not Ferraro's case; as explained, her actual BAC and applicable sentencing guidelines were not highly relevant to the circuit court's sentencing, and she therefore failed to establish a new factor warranting sentence modification. See supra pp. 6-7.

Fourth, as a practical matter, this Court should decline review because Ferraro invited the alleged error that she now criticizes. "Under the doctrine of strategic waiver, also known as invited error, '[a] defendant cannot create his own error by deliberate choice of strategy and then ask to receive benefit from that error on appeal." State v. Gary M.B., 2004 WI 33, ¶ 11, 270 Wis. 2d 62, 676 N.W.2d 475 (alteration in original) (citation omitted). As the court of appeals astutely noted, Ferraro was responsible for her quick case disposition, she knew that her blood test results had not been reported by the time of her plea and sentencing hearing, she could have delayed her sentencing to await those results, and yet she

confirmed for the circuit court that there was no reason to postpone her sentencing. (Pet-App. 11.)

At the end of the day, nobody forced Ferraro to enter her plea before her BAC results were reported. She elected to seek a quicker case disposition while risking that she could receive a sentence consistent with her higher breath test result taken within minutes of her arrest and not the results of her blood test taken some time thereafter, after she had partially sobered up. She was not entitled to sentence modification just because she now regrets that decision.

CONCLUSION

The court of appeals correctly affirmed Ferraro's judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief, and review by this Court is unwarranted.